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 Foreword
Before you read this, it was not intended to be a finished article. I wrote it as it came to me and I remembered it, so a lot of it is disjointed. One very important thing I forgot to mention. My Mother, having lost my Father early on, fought every inch of the way to keep me. They were hard times for her, long hours of work away from home. Always very pleased I was when she returned.

Chapters: The London I knew. 
Service at Home and Abroad.
End and DSO earned by another.
London as I knew and loved it.
I was born in 1890 and from an early age used to play not far from “Drury Lane Theatre”. On a rainy day I could get cover under the Theatre. It was very near  “Covent Garden” all busy very early in the mornings. In the summer I would get up early to watch the flowers and fruit being sold, a lovely smell. My grandfather had a Fish & Chip shop very near these two places.
 Shops could keep open as long as the owner wished in those days. Most of the trade was done as the Theatres were emptied. About this time the “Shop Act” was introduced which said shops must close at midnight. My Grandfather got over this by shutting the door and serving from an opening in the front. This was OK and people thought the Fish & Chips tasted just as good. I used to go with Grandfather to “Billingsgate Fish Market”. 
I generally spent the weekend playing on the embankment going right down the steps to the waters edge near to “Cleopatra’s Needle” all on my own nearly every Saturday. Sunday was a lovely day especially on sunny days in the summer. Plenty of room to move, not the crowds of today and not the noise of today just the Handsome Cabs and the tinkle of their bells. Our stroll which we did always with Grandfather, used to be exactly the same each Sunday through the Admiralty Arch across to the Horse Guards Parade. But, before we got there, there used to be a “Cow and Maid” selling Curds and Whey and further on another Cow and Maid. The Maid all ‘Country style’ would sit on her stool and milk the Cow. We would always stop to buy a ginger snap biscuit continuing on our way to be in time for the “Changing of the Guard”. We would then walk towards the House of Commons passing 10 Downing Street on our way. We were not expected; so we did not call. I think Grandfather would have said his piece. About that time, I happened to ask him why he looked so sad and he said “They wont let you live” it’s this Income Tax, sixpence in the pound! We would leave the House of Commons on our left to find our usual Pub. In those days children were allowed to enter. Each week we would meet the same people all friendly and the Pubs were homely. I would have a ginger beer and Arrow root biscuit then on to St. James Park and so for Home. I saw the C.I.V come home from the “Boer War” and march down the Strand to the cheers of the people, only to be forgotten very soon after.
About this time it was whispered that they were going to do some pulling down. The work was to be called “The Strand Improvements”. They just said they were going to give compensation which as you know was just a name to pay for you to move your things out. Well, grandfather said he was staying where he was, so they pulled everything down around him and he went Bankrupt. And so Kingsway was built and it was goodbye to Clare Market and the Pub around the corner called “The Grapes” where I used to go for a pint for Grandfather.
Now it has been said that we had the first machine to chip potatoes. My grandmother claimed that she was given the first one by the man who made it. It was nearly all wood like a cricket bat. 
Yes London was a lovely place especially if you had a little money, you could have a night out for about sixpence. I could go to the Gallery or a Music Hall for tuppence. It usually ran from 6 pm until midnight and afterwards  Fish and Chips for one penny.

Most of the stars were tried out at “Collins” or “Variety”. Usually a stock company would put on a different play each week and as time went on I saw they were showing in the West End. The Variety of Pitfield Street Hoxton was the place. If they liked the act like Charlie Whittle it passed off without a tomato being thrown. Otherwise not. Louise Hampton, Edward Thame Ronald Adair: All were in the Stock Company.
The “Sacred Concert” in aid of Charity was held on a Sunday at the Variety Pitfield Street. Doors opened at 7 oclock. No one lined up. You went in altogether and you got carried in. If you knew the layout you made for under the balcony. If you were just there for the first time and did not have a cover for your Sunday Hat anything could happen. It was really a laugh. What pluck these Artists had to go through it, Raspberries galore and if the crowd thought they needed a send off, they got pelted from the boxes at the side. A seat in a Box was sixpence or two shillings for the 4 seats. Even the Band used to get pelted.
 I was at the last of these Sacred Concerts. It was about this time that America started to “Can” meat in Chicago and on the Bill it was printed in large letters that on the Sunday this chap would sing his own composition. Well he did it all wrong, he came on in a dress suit evidently paid by “The Butchers”. They got the idea that this canning of meat was going to put them out of business. The audience kept repeating the last words ‘if you have any dead dogs or cats to send them to Chicago’. Things started to fly but he stood his ground and tried to make himself heard but it was no use. The last word of his song they repeated all together and the place rocked. I cried till the tears rolled down my face. He still stood there and they had to lower the curtain but the noise continued as they made for the doors singing the words of the song. Send him to Chicago. Outside the theatre were crowds all wondering what was going on, the Police were there in force. That was the last Sacred Concert to be held at the “Old Variety” I wonder if Charity ever got a bean. The London Music Halls are now all pulled down. A sketch called “A sister to a sister” was passed as A.1 by the crowd (Fred Emney). Then another “The Plumber” that got a pass. There was another “Music Hall” backing onto Great Eastern Street, all gone now.
If this is read by a stranger they may think this was all we did but people were very poor and little outings made things bearable. London, capital of a little island richest country in the World, and we were proud of it ready to fight for it, yes even though we did not have a bit left over each week. Poverty was there alright, labour was cheap there was always unemployment. Now what did we want with a War? All men were brothers said an Orator at Speakers Corner, Yes speech was free a lot of hot air was got rid of. There were “Free Thinkers” and ’Religions’ from all sections and a large crowd making a lot of noise. Foreigners passing by with all this shouting would think we were about to overthrow the government. All it was about was that it was about time they, the people, should ask themselves if this poverty was right, in a country so rich.
I must go back a bit to the first I can remember as a child to a place in Hoxton where I lived. It was about 1895 and snow was thick on the ground the only place that had water was outside a Bakers Shop where there was a Hydrant Tap. Water from the Tap was made possible from the heat of the ovens. I can remember people coming in all directions with their buckets to this tap and the pavement was the only place clear of snow. About this time I had a little friend who lived next to me, the place being “Britport Place”. We played together pleased of each other’s company. Then one day he did not come out to play I could not make out what was wrong. I could not make it out, it was sometime after I was told he had died of diphtheria, yes this fever was dreaded and when we saw a cart from the Fever Hospital all children would run as far away as possible.  At “Britport Place” Horse Trams ran down the length of it to the Manor House Pub. There were shops on both sides of this road all doing a steady business, complete with Uncles that was very popular on Mondays. People would be there waiting for it to open, they would be back on Saturday night to take the goods back on payment of the Loan less fee. “Pawnbrokers” or Uncles had 3 Brass Balls outside their shop. I was later to get a job at a “Pawnbrokers”
I went to school at a church school, the “School Board of London”. It was a great attempt to educate every child and it was free. Snobbery was there even among the very poor. My Mother was afraid I would get into bad company so she paid money to another school where I learned absolutely nothing. So I started all wrong, Mother began to see that these School Board of London children knew how to read and I could not say my ABC all through. So my Mother took me to Napier Street School, it was still there much later when I retired from the Firm. So I started wrong. I was put in a class of the same age that I was. This was a terrible drawback. I never did catch up, Mother would move quite often, so I would go to a new school. Still all wrong because I was behind for my age. I was very conscious of this and I worried. 
The canal used to run at the end of Britport Place also under the New North Road. One day I was coming home from Napier Street School with other children. I stopped to look over the canal. We were all leaning over when someone threw my cap over. I leaned over to stop him and over I went, just missing the Tow Path. I was lucky. Someone fished me out. I woke up in the kitchen of a Lady whose house backed onto the Canal. I believe it was Baring Street. These houses have been pulled down and the Bridge made higher since. I was in luck again. This Lady dried me with a rough towel  she made a hole in the top of a sack and two holes to put my arms through then put an old straw hat on my head. In those days everyone wore a hat. She completed her good work by rolling my wet clothes in a bundle. On my way to my Uncle Fred’s Fish Shop I had to pass Aunt Ada who laughed at the sight I must have looked. So on the way home I said to myself how pleased my Mother would be that her darling son had been saved. I could see the look she gave me. I was making a big mistake, I got a back hander and she could do this, if she could catch me! I was not an angel and she could wallop very well. I was about 6 years old. I had a duty to carry out the following morning at school. I had enough to put up with at this new school I was a boy from the Church School. I was not soft by any means. I had a bloody nose and one or two bruises on my face. It was no use telling Mother those bad boys were on to me, the only thing she would say was go and bomp them.
I knew the boy who had thrown my cap over the bridge. I was always losing my caps at this school, so I said to the boy have you got my cap? He just laughed at me and I set about him. A ring was formed, and he did not seem to be enjoying himself. They were all cheering him on and there was one boy who was shouting for him on to do this and that more loudly  than the rest of them. I caught him a wallop he was not expecting, the rest of the ring disappeared. I was never troubled again.
On Saturday I would make my way to Grandfather’s Fish Shop. I could always take care of myself, I had to in those days. I used to walk from Hoxton to the West End and on the way there, there were always boys who would attack if they did not like the look of you but I was big for my age. During the weeks before the Boat Race different streets would either be Oxford or Cambridge so I would be challenged as to which one I was for. This was generally a gang of boys. I always came prepared for this, a label with Oxford in one pocket and Cambridge in the other. I would pull out the one required.   My last school was “mad” on singing, they had an honours board in the Hall, they had won awards all over the place and their singing ”in parts” was very good. They did a light opera twice while I was there, running I think 3 nights. About this time I had a pal. He was short and I was tall, this fact, I think was the cause of the trouble, we generally had the stick together. They were to put on an opera, the last one before I left when I was about 13 years old. they tried our voices for the opera, we were to be ‘Two  Wandering Minstrels’  playing our guitars under the Princesses but got chucked out. They said we were putting in wrong words or maybe rude words. My Mother would say you can’t tell me they kept you in. You leave school at 12 o clock and it’s nearly l oclock now. So I was pleased when we got chucked out of the cast. On the night the Opera opened my chum and I were brought back to play our parts. I have often wondered if we were in the clutches of Welsh Teachers. A call was made by the local church Choir Masters, could our Head Master recommend some boys to sing in the choir. The pay was good, paid quarterly, so we went to the church to have our voice tried. He said what hymn will you sing? He was at the Organ I said If it was easy I’d follow him, No! no! don’t you know one hymn? Why yes of course “Jesus loves me” Ah! Good ! So off he starts and I keep repeating all I knew. Jesus loves me. Jesus did love me and I was taken on. I had a ‘White Surplus’. I looked good Mother said, she did not enlarge, well I began to learn what it was all about, so at the end of the quarter we kept waiting for payment. The Choir Master was absent when we went round his house, he did not pay us so I left. What a shame. The Bible I learned the wrong way and much from “Free Thinkers”. Jesus had been good to me and mine. I don’t mock him when you love a garden you stop and think, if you lose one crop there is another coming along. Beside the nettle there is the dock.
I had to look after myself most times, and I made a lot friends, mostly old ladies. They were very good to me, I would run errands for them or do little odd jobs. You see Mother was always at work long hours and in the winter it got dark as soon as school was over and children would be called in from the streets. Lamposts were far apart and did not show much light. There was not a lot done for children. I must remember an old Lady that remained a friend of my Mother’s. We lived in a very big twelve roomed house, we had the basement and other people had a floor each, the top part the cheapest, was empty. On one of those dark winter’s nights an old lady arrived with her furniture she did not have much. I heard her say she could not find her lamp. I at once said I had a spare one I could lend her. She was pleased to accept and before you could say snap I was helping her with her things up the stairs. It does not matter what her name was she had been cook to a Rich Family at Spanish Place Mansions in the West End. Her boss he had left her a £1 per week for life, so you see there were good people about, not many but how pleased to hear of them. Well how she could cook I always received payment for any little job I did for her. I was lonely and so was she. Mother’s cousin kept house for another member of our family and she could cook too. This part of our family were comfortably off. The old man or Head of the Family had come up from Kent and started as a Boat Repairer, this did not make a living so my Grandfather lent him money to buy an Insurance Book. He started to make headway and soon his two sons started in the same Office. The father, Robert started to buy houses and soon as one got going he would buy another. They were mostly 12 roomed houses and the City was near. Lizzie Mother’s cousin did the cooking. I thought a lot of her cooking. I did OK from one or the other. Now Robert was a Teetotaller and so was his wife and how she was always pleased to see me. George she would say, you know what to get, so with the little bottle I would pop off to the Mitre which you can guess was a pub, when I returned I would keep it in my pocket until the coast was clear. This old lady was killed on the hill at Canterbury. They used to go to Margate by Horse and Trap on their holiday, it was as they were returning the horse got wild and overturned the trap. The family was never the same, they missed the old lady and I lost a friend.
My Mother had to work very hard and long hours.  From very early in my life I was lonely always waiting for Mother to come home. A piano was bought and I had two lessons a week. A Miss Fisher was my teacher and was paid the fabulous sum of 7/6d per quarter (37½ pence in present currency).

She taught me well for 2 years, scales for l year and hours of practise. There was no Central Heating. You should have tried the frozen keys in the Winter, only the Candles each side of the Piano to keep you warm and give you light. You know one of the reasons I am writing this is a Modern Invention called a “Tape Recorder” You know I was caught telling a yarn and recorded. I don’t know it if was to shut me up. Anyway it made me have second thoughts I said what a bore, I may have bored people, I did not like what I heard. My cockney voice I had tried to improve, age had not helped me, anyway who cares I am proud I was born a cockney.

You will know by now there must have been more than one Fish & Chip Shop, Grandfather’s near “Drury Lane Theatre”. One in Cromer Street W.C.1 belonged to my Uncle Fred, and another at New North Road, N.1. He, it was, who knew his way around, more about him later. At school at question time I was not very old at the time. Hands up who knows where the “North Pole” is, I raised my hand smartly “Well says Teacher. Up North Road says I, thinking of the pub there. Now come outside my lad she said, hold your hand out. I got one of the best. My uncle, when he had had enough of cooking would leave his pans to have a quick one at the North Pole. Aunt Ada would send me to tell him to come back because the shop was full of people. You see from an early age I would be about at one or another shop, putting potatoes in the machine for chips, mixing batter and so on. Saturdays, as I got older, if they were busy, I would help in the shop itself.
Uncle Fred would not stop too long in his shops, he would open a shop that had been empty clean it up nice and clean, put in New Pans, do the brickwork to carry the pans and when he had worked it up he would sell it and retire, about every three years to Margate. When he got the urge he would be off again on the same lark. When I was about 12 he got two shops and knocked them together. They were in a terrible state, had been empty for years. This was the best he had ever done, he fried one ton of potatoes a week. He would buy them off the train at Kings Cross. One shop was for people who wanted to sit down the other for a running trade. It was in Camden Passage it was a cut through for people to save going a long way round. Collins Music Hall was close and handy at one end and at the other end was the “Grand Theatre” so a lot of people passed through the Passage. Uncle Fred was doing so good he was not in a hurry to leave this one. Nearby also was the “Blue Hall” one time shows were held in there. 
They were the only Fish & Chip Shops who fried in ‘Best Dripping’. We used to go down to the Hotels leading from the Strand for this lovely dripping. You could eat it on a slice of bread. Everyone else selling Fish & Chips fried in oil and you could smell it before you passed these shops. This was before the advent of the “Fridge”. Fish was either fit to eat or during hot summer days only to be thrown away.  If you sold limp fish that had been kept on ice, you soon lost your trade. You might get it thrown at you. So a good Fishmonger got up early to go to Billingsgate Market and he got the pick of what had arrived but he also had to know quality. If he layed in bed he only got what was left, mostly fish on Ice, limp like we get today. Fish could come directly to the Fish & Chip Shops but there again it was stuff they would not send to Billingsgate.

Now Saturday Night was full of life. They even used to sing “Sweet Saturday Night you’ve been a long time coming”. It was generally payday for most.people. On Saturday and Sunday they lived, the kids would get a halfpenny. Monday, well there was not much left, The do-gooders told people the cause of their poverty was drink and the Church said, keep saying your prayers it will all come right one day.
My Mother said, be honest, work hard and you will get on, so I had a look around and did not see much prospect for a willing lad. Mother had a bright idea concerning Robert the old man who was in the Insurance Business. Mother thought that as her Father had been the means of starting him, she he would give this willing lad a start in his office. I looked at the place where he and his two sons (my Mother’s cousins) did their clerical work and saw there was nothing on the floor but proposal forms, nearly knee deep. I went in this place years after and it was the same. I said to Mother I am not going there. Well you are to start on Monday next  in a weeks time she said. The “Chronicle” Newspaper used to be where jobs were advertised. I am not putting it on when I say for every job there were close on 50 or more at the early morning line up. Now this particular job was sleep-in, all food included and 3 shillings per week (15pence in our currency). I was the only one who answered the advertisement. No one wanted to sleep-in. The Manager seemed pleased to see me. He said when can you start? Tomorrow if I can. So I left a note for Mother for I could not tell her, she would not agree. I said she was not to worry I would send her 2/6d each week and keep 6d to myself.

So I started at the biggest Pawnbrokers in London, Harvey and Thompson, Leather Lane near Gamages (a big department store). I liked it at once there were other boys working all from the country. The only trouble was the hours. 9 until 9 at night each day and 9 until 12 midnight on Saturday. Shops kept open to midnight those days. The food was good, after a breakfast at 11 o clock they would bring up the coffee and lovely bread pudding full of fruit. I was put on the stall outside. A market was going on for about 2 hours during dinner time each day when crowds would be around the stall turning over old tools that had not been called for. We also sold new tools in the shop, but they would rather have these rough old broken down ones. No difference in many cases and no difference in price. Well I enjoyed myself. This was the life but oh! My poor feet 15 hours on a Saturday the market kept us busy and being Saturday and being everyone’s payday towards the last hours at night, people were lit up. The country boys were nervous but I was used to all this.
We sold everything even sets of Tea things imported from Germany, very good and cheap. I sold whatever they gave me to put on the stall. I was lit up myself. I sold a coat and vest to a bloke who had a drop too much, told him it was a perfect fit. It was when I held the back. He came back with his Missus and I had to dodge out of it. I sometimes used to work in the store where all goods were kept. It was a ¼ of a mile round the aisles. It was colossal. There was everything from Old Naval Cutlasses, Bicycles, Tandems even one that could seat three people. We boys went down a flight of stairs on this. It was so long we could not turn the corner properly. I had to serve at the pledge counter on their busy day, Monday. You had a pen that had 3 nibs writing 3 tickets at once. I was only there about 4 weeks then when looking up Leather Lane from the stall I spied Mother. Someone had seen me, she never said ‘Hello’ but went straight in to see the Manager. He pleaded with her telling her what a mistake she was making. He said I had taken more on that stall than anyone else. Well it ended with me being marched off to start in the Post Office where I would have “job for life” and a pension to go with it. 
At the Post Office I was given uniform of a Telegraph Boy. Now I was to learn about the City of London. I trod the streets of this great City firstly from the Head Post Office. St. Martins Le Grand to the last house of Queen Victoria Street No.199. If I can remember the number correctly this was at least a mile from the Post Office. The rate was 1/2d per telegram. We worked  8a.m. to 4.00p.m.one week and 12 noon to 8 p.m. the next.

There was no wireless so telegrams were essential. Telegrams would come through the Pigeon Hole already sorted out in directions for routes, to the boys seated in the Delivery Room, One did not wait long, taking turns as we returned after delivering our telegrams. Business was very brisk coming through the hole.

We were paid 1/2d per telegram. Some would be near, just luck or some would be for 199 Queen Victoria Street which was within a yard or two from Blackfriars Bridge. Just before midnight on a Winters Night. one mile for a l/2d. Not frequent but it could happen. On our beat was St. Barts Hospital not the best of luck to get one there just before 8 at night if it was dark. It was not so far away as 199 Queen Victoria Street but not one of the best of places to be. It seemed everyone at the Hospital was in bed and it was very eerie. Us boys were looking at the clock  getting near to knocking off time when up comes a telegram for the Hospital complete with Ward Number. We were sitting in the Delivery Room just sweating on what might come through the pigeon hole when a white faced boy came in saying “I have seen a ghost”. Where? said a crowd of boys who laughed at him, did you deliver the telegram? No. But I am not going back there for one thing it’s pitch dark. So it came about we all went with him back to the Hospital. Up the stairs we all went and there we could see in the dim light of the flickering gas jet lighting up the stairs, a lot of white sheets in this ward we did not wait to say goodbye, but the noise fetched the attendant who should have seen to the Messenger at first. It was the Mortuary, hence all the white sheets.

All the newspapers in and around Fleet Street were on our beat and I got transferred to the Stock Exchange Post Office, where it was just as busy but not so far to cover. From this office our entrance was up a narrow court and outside a Lady would have a kind of stand on which were displayed home made jam tarts, sweets and chocolates and to her shame she let us have a lick and on payday she would take the best part of our wages. The wage you got was determined by the number telegrams you had delivered and if you did too much you could go home, so you can guess it was a race, we knew every building in the City from Blackfriars Bridge to Liverpool Street. When I say it was a race we actually did run under horses heads, between buses, we knew every back entrance to these buildings. My pal was determined to give the Lady at the entrance ‘the bird’. I said why don’t we join the Post Office Bank it is easy, we only have to go downstairs to the counter we could put a shilling by each payday. Well it was doomed to failure, it was so easy to put in we forgot it was also more than easy to draw our shilling out which meant closing the account. Anyway we would make a fresh start determined to see if we could keep it in. The Counter Clerk gave us such dirty looks as much to say what’s the game. He would make out another book but in spite of our good intentions, by midweek we were broke again and our shilling  was doing nothing at the Post Office. Well says the Clerk ‘Try another Post Office’.

Then I committed a terrible crime or so I thought. It seemed I had not made myself acquainted with the rules of the Post Office. I had been caught taking money and attempting to raffle a Fret Saw, I wanted to get 2/6d. I had in my well off moments spent all this money so at a penny a time I was allowing the boys to take bits of paper with the winning number from a cap.  In those days if you did any wrong you had to write what the Post Office called a “Skin” and the Inspector who was expecting instant promotion, helped me in the best way he could to make it look worse than what it was. He told me to start writing ‘J.G.H begs to state that I had contravened the rules of the Post Office’ and then to sign it. Now I had to wait and present myself to the “Heads Govern Committee”.

These top people only came once every quarter when they would take a report on the working and running of the Post Office. Well I was taken before this committee who sat in chairs in the form of a horse shoe table. They were all old men. Well Inspector what is all this about? And so the Inspector called me in and it looked to me that the Skin I had written was being seen for the first time.

Well, well Inspector I think everyone of us here would have done things like this when we were boys. One man asked ‘Did you make a profit? No I said I have still got the Fret Saw and returned the money, how much did you pay for the Fret Saw? 2/6d. The Inspector looked very small and if they could have done it they would have paid the 2/6d themselves. I thought it was the sack for sure and what was Mother going to say about the Career? I had thrown it away. The job lasted two years no pension just the sack for about 50 boys ages 16 to 19 years old. We were expecting to sit for our Exams to see which branch of the Post Office was suitable. Little did we realize when we watched the “C.I.V” (Civil Imperial Volunteers) march down the Strand returning from the South African War with the people cheering them on, that a few years later I and other boys would be used in a Political game. Just prior to this during an Election Campaign an issue had been made of the Ex -Soldiers begging in the streets after serving their country. A Tory government was returned. Lord Stanley I think it was who carried out his pledge to find work for these Heroes. So myself and the others were sacked to make room for them. No reasons were given to us. Now to be out of work in those days was no joke. It was 9 weeks before I got a job. I did not play fair, for 9 weeks I had lined up outside different places always a long queue. So it happened, on this occasion, I waited across the way in a doorway and when I saw someone about to open up I walked right up to him and into the shop and when I was right inside the man said. Are you after the job? I said yes. Well if you go outside and tell all the others we are suited the job is yours,  this I did. He said you must have really wanted the job. The job was with Negretti & Zambra, Cornhill next to St. Michaels Church. I was there 10 years until the 1914-18 War broke out. I went to night school during these years I could see around me what education could do. I learned more during those years than ever before. I knew I had wasted my early days but I was not behind anymore. It was a good Firm where I worked. You moved up from the bottom. I was told later they would in future only give promotion to School Certificate Holders which meant I and others like me would just keep where we were. So it seemed my work at Night School was not counted. Anyway my Night School Teacher said there is a Book a very small one, it gives all the trick words that the “Daily Mail” find useful. It will be useful he said if you are ever in an exam. I could not see anywhere I would be in an Exam but you never know. It came to be useful later when I was sent for a Commission while on Active Service. 
I think by now you will agree that I did know my London. All my life I trod its pavements from Woolwich, Lewisham, and Bermondsay along the riverside to Deptford and to the Ferry at Woolwich crossing over to the docks to join the Barking Road to East Ham Town Hall on my side of London down the road to Plaistow, Stratford, Bow and Mile End and so to Shoreditch Church. I believe Nell Gwyn attended hereabout. Old Street, Hoxton Street Market. The land of promise at the far end Wilmer Gardens. Not a flower to be seen in these gardens. it was very rough. A policeman never went down there on his own.

This was the time the Tories held Hoxton and always had done. I had been sacked by the Post Office and had now got a job in the City. I could not say I’m alright Jack because of the poverty I could see all around me, being out of work made me think. This Tory Seat began to wobble slightly.The Right Hon Rupert Guinness was again asking for votes, he brought his Ladies, Daughters. They were lovely to look at. There was a Liberal and a Socialist also asking for the Votes. The name of the Socialist was Herbert Borrows, he was of fine appearance and a good orator. His meetings were well attended and so I would give a hand in going from door to door asking them to vote for their own class. I could hardly believe their reasons for voting Tory. They had noticed the Beer was stronger when to Tories were in. There were a lot of teetotalers in the Liberal Party. Well the Tories, they have the money don’t they? You must have money for the wages. But don’t you think this poverty could be on their election address? Someone has got to do something. What are you getting out of it? Another said
What would you do if you had a factory? Would you be pleased with chaps like you going around telling the workers they were being worked to death?  I had it seems heard everything. Well he said what would you do? Mate I said, I’d sack the lot of you and take on a new staff at reduced wages. Well continuing on canvassing I thought, what a job, all satisfied with their misery. Some looked at me and were sorry for me. The meetings were full up I came to the conclusion these were the converted from other districts. On Election Night we stood, my Pal and I, outside of Shoreditch Town Hall awaiting the result and well after midnight the Clerk came first with the results Herbert Borroughs name came first 995 . We shouted we thought his name being first called that he was returned but then the others came 22,000 or something like that and we had stood out in the rain to see a Tory returned again. Well something had to be done, they did not like this name “Socialist” it was too drastic, the people thought too much like revolution. The men who had wanted to do something about the poverty split into 2 groups one said Socialism today, we would keep our fight for the Pure Stuff, the others lets have some jam today so they hid their Socialism and went and fought every election as Labour. The Tory, as time went on never came back to Hoxton. Labour began to penetrate in the Trade Union Clubs where radicals generally got the vote, they were to catch the votes that the Liberals might lose to Labour. Labour going from strength to strength would throw back little reforms to show they were doing something, meantime the diehards were still there keeping an eye on smart alecs. Anyone with a good education could get to places in politics very quickly in the Labour movement. Keir Hardy and diehards like him could not be bought. Others, I expect after a lot of speaking at street corners,  listened to such stupid arguments from some workers contented with low wages, long hours, left them to their misery. John Burns a firey speaker joined the Liberal Party and was given Cabinet Rank, Victor Grayson was returned on a Socialist Ticket, he disappeared without trace. 
I had made up my mind I would save up for a bike it was just after I had started at Negretti an Zambra. Around the corner from my home Rushton Street I used to walk up to a cycle shop for in the window a new bike it seemed so lovely but right out of my reach £3.15 shillings I was looking in this window way up in the clouds when a policeman said move along there. There did not seem anybody near me so I said I am only looking in the window. He says where do you come from? I said Rushton Street. Well get going and he followed me right to my door. If I had turned and said a word I would have been recommended at Court for a place where they teach boys like you not to talk to Coppers. Well I got that bike. 
I said before I liked old ladies, well it happened I used to change Mrs. Churchill’s Library books for her.  She lived in the top half of our house. I told her about the bike and the policeman.  She said if your Mother says OK I’ll end you the money and you can pay me back 1 shilling a week. Mother did not like me having a bike because of the roads but now I had a bike I made full use of it because as a kid the nearest bit of grass was about 2 miles away at Highbury Fields. Some children only had a days holiday a year, but they had to attend Sunday School. It was a ride to Loughton. So a bike was a treasure. Tyres were not too good, roads were not too good either. On a long ride to Southend you would get covered in a white dust in the Summer. We were very proud to be covered in this dust. We could show off as long distant cyclists. Each year the cyclists would hold the “Woodford Meet” Cyclists came from all parts with their bikes made up with flags, all making for “Guys Retreat” Buckhurst Hill, and a mile away on the Epping Road another place “Riggles”. This was on a Saturday starting in the afternoon and continuing afterwards with dancing and refreshment. Pot of Tea for two for 5 pence. A yard or two off was the Bull faced Stag. These two places were on their own. I thought the surrounding country was a part of Epping Forest but 60 years later this land had been built on. Bob Seivear was a financier, very well known, everybody seemed to invest their money with him, and so it came to pass at this “Woodford Meet” one year he was going to give away valuable prizes. I suppose my chum and I were there each year. Later on we were to learn “Bob Sievear” had gone bust and all those people who had listened to him did the same.
 Now we were to see the coming of the “Motor Cycle” on our roads. They were always breaking down. We pedal cyclists would say rude things as we rolled past on our bikes. At weekends these “Cycle Clubs” sometimes 30 to 40 strong would take over half the road. One club that I knew well was “The Bow Athletic” very strong in numbers being very well run, they held many championships. The one mile Essex Cup and the “Slow Race” which you had to see to believe and the Clacton and Back Tandem Race.  I played football for them in Winter on Sunday mornings. Now it slowly came about that we the cyclists were seeing these Motor Cycles pass us by. We did not worry we had the roads to ourselves. The only trouble was the Farm Carts taking their products to Stratford and Spitalfields Markets. These horses knew the way, they would plod along at night, the drivers all fast asleep. We cyclists would ride through the night to Southend, Brighton etc., These carts were like a train and some of the horses would stray a little over the road. That we thought was a bit much. Now here came a (pop pop Motor Cycle) that did not break down so frequently. It was a twin cylinder. Very few of them were on the road. We could hear this pop pop a long way off before it reached us. We did not realize we were seeing the end of the Freedom of the Road.  And so during the lovely Summer of 1914 my chum and were sitting out about April at Guys Retreat. It was early about 2 o clock in the afternoon we were waiting for the first cycles all made up to arrive at the “Woodford Meet”. It soon became crowded and while having our pot of tea some of the girls came in to Guys and ordered tea and shared our table hoping as we thought to chat us up. This girl says can I read your cup we laughed and laughed even more when she said “I can see you both in uniform”. I say “Who told you I was going to join the Salvation Army”? My chum said I always went with him. She proved to be right. We were both in the Army before the end of the year, War was not thought about by us then. 
Now the crowd was very thick, so to get a bit of fresh air we strolled outside. I then saw the girl who was to be my wife, she was with another girl. My pal always first when a girl was about started his usual chat. I think we had a pot of tea for four, after learning they came from Stratford and we guessed they had not been cycling very long. Anyway we heard the music for dancing starting up so that was how we finished the evening.  We used to go to Guys during the evening during the Summer and dance. Always plenty of Bikes and different cycling clubs. Now about Gladys and her friend Hetty.  Hetty was working a bit too fast on me I thought. She told me all about herself and she hardly stopped talking for breath. She would be too close to me saying that her qualities were very good. She could cook, good at needle work, kept house for her father. In fact a bargain for a chap like me. All good A.1 stuff, I did not blow my own trumpet because I had my eye on the other one and there, don’t laugh, I was lost for words. 
My chum and I had been to Yarmouth for our holiday on the Steamer and the War that I did not think would materialize was on. It was lovely weather and there staring at us was this. “We are now at War with Germany”. We did not think of it but we were seeing, without realizing it the breaking up of most of the wealth of our Britain. I was in Cornhill going towards the Mansion House in London and I could hear a Drum and Fife Band coming from the direction of Liverpool Street Station and as they passed the Mansion House they were singing a song that we were to hear for a very long time “It’s a long way to Tipperary”.  Yes it was the P.I.B. known as the Poor Bloody Infantry. I did not know it at the time but that was to be the burden for my poor old feet in a few weeks time. This Battalion was the first that passed through the City on their way to Waterloo Station. The people all City workers were going about their business in a normal way when suddenly the City noise was silenced as the Boys in Khaki marched passed. A few days later the phone rang while I was at work telling me that most of the staff, the young ones, were going to enlist. I said OK and without thinking I put my coat on and wished our Manager and his assistant goodbye. I joined the others at our Holborn shop and made for Clapham Junction Barracks. We were soon sworn in and before we knew it, the lot of us were at the White City. From this day I knew I had joined the wrong lot. My feet were going to take continuous punishment. I had joined the P.B.I. at 1 shilling per day. My other friends who were my cycling pals joined “The City of London Yeomanry”. They had posh uniforms and spurs and a horse to ride on. The only ride I got was on a boat to France. I think I will close this effort of mine for now because it has gone on too long. I will continue some time later.
Service at home and abroad (starting October 1914)
My chums and I reached Clapham Junction Barracks 23rd London Regiment 2nd Battalion. Our First Battalion were already in France.

We were a Territorial Battalion which meant for Home Service only. This I did not know until later. Our first day after joining up we were taken to the White City. An exhibition had just finished there. “The White City” was a huge place. The floor of  one great hall was to be our home anyway until we were moved on. Now I was to know what the P.B.I. meant. We did a route march every day, the distance being more each day Horley in Surrey was our next stop. My two chums Jim Andrews and Ted Stone and one John Morley were billeted on a small Farmer who did not take too kindly to having soldiers foisted on to him and we were given rules about what he would do to us since he was a retired policeman. He would kick out the first man who came in drunk. The Lady of the house was different. He told her we would pay her for anything she gave us beyond our allowance. This worked well and we lived like Toffs. We paid her each week. Now ‘Morley’ our fourth man. He asked Ted to lend him enough to pay the Lady as he was waiting for a Postal Order from home. It so happened he also borrowed off Jim Andrews and myself. On a route march we would fall out for 10 minutes every hour. Morley always came without his tobacco and matches. He would find someone fresh to borrow from each time, he began to be known, we began to ask him to settle up. Yes he was waiting for cash from home all in good time. Ted made a dive down his kitbag and found his Post Office Book which showed he banked each week and had no withdrawals. Ted told him you borrow to save up mate and he paid up. If we had moved billets he would have dodged paying us. We left Horley for Bishops Stortford still marching. We were better trained than most because we had the old soldiers who had been in the Territorials for years and long service guardsmen who had done their 21 years in the Regulars. From Hatfield to Colchester still marching after a brief stay we moved on to Frinton-on-Sea, 18 miles. Frinton was where the cream of society dwelled. All the best people were either on holiday there or went to Town each day. Music was represented by the “Gaiety People”, Joseph Coyne, Gladys Cooper and one or two more. Then came the Landladies who only took in the best. 
All along this coast were possible landing sites for the enemy because at a very low tide the enemy could nearly paddle from 4 miles out so we were guarding old England’s shores.

Now about this 23rd London Battalion Regiment. We had among us Sir Grey Shipworth, Levon Gore and several professionals in music. Boys just out of University and all well fed big men. We did Battalion Drill on the Greensward and Route Marches. Conscription was not on the statute books, so there we were, a very fine Battalion, keeping them to their promise not to split us up. We would all go if we could go together. Well so it happened two’s and three’s would volunteer. Mostly boys who had joined up together. Ted Stone who was only 18 and was the most junior boy at Negretti and Zambra volunteered and it did not take long after for Glover and myself to sign. Jim Andrews remained behind. Together Glover and myself left Frinton in the company of Sergeant Cowland Ex Grenadier 21 years service, for Winchester  which was a 16 week training course for new arrivals. I had only been there a week when I had my name taken for missing Kit Inspection, I was later told to attend the Orderly Room. I was expecting to get confined to Barracks, instead they gave me a stripe, well well. Glover did not like this at all. Well he soon got it they gave him a stripe too. I am now sent with a South African, Jossi Corporal, to Tidworth Barracks to get a full course on Infantry Law, Physical and Musketry I was there 3 months. They shaved off my hair as soon as we arrived at Tidworth. On returning to my Battalion it came out on orders that my chum and I had been made Sergeants.
Sixteen weeks to Glory
On the Battalion Orderly Room was a big board made out like I had seen in Pitfield Library. You would look at a book of Authors and Novels. When you had found the Number you wanted, you then went over to the Big Board to see if it was in or out by a red or a black. Well this was like it was with people. Every man overseas was marked in either black or red. Can’t remember which.

This Battalion was in being to keep up replacements of casualties on the Active Service List. Hence the 16 weeks. I was given 64 men or two huts full and it was my job to organize training (I had another N.C.O.to help). Ted Stone had already been wounded and was back to training again.
Our losses were terrible I would see a draft go, usually at night. I remember on this one night I had a H.Q. Guard and I had Pat O Keefe as my corporal and 24 men. We heard the tramp of feet it was 1.30a.m.The camp was asleep. I shouted Guard turn out. The Guard stood to attention waiting as they approached. Guard present Arms and their Sergeant gave eyes left. It was a larger draft this time. When we had dismissed the Guard, I sat down and there was Pat O Keefe Welter Weight Champion of England in tears ‘This drives me up the wall’ he said.
In this Battalion we had all Sports Champions, Barry the Sculler Bermondsey, Billy Wells, Jack Goldswain under contract to fight anyone at “The Ring” Blackfriars. It was depressing this making up the losses. Sometimes within a week after leaving Winchester they were finished. While I was at Tidworth the tramp of feet went on all night this was before the Somme and don’t forget most of them were only 18. The loss of men was terrible we would see some of the names that had only left the camp just over a week ago finished. Not one or two either.

Winchester

This City old in tradition was alive with the Southern Command Infantry Battalion. Thousands of men all being trained from the raw recruits to the fighting soldier in 16 weeks. I could see why I and my chum had been sent to Tidworth Barracks to receive instructions to see that every Unit was halting as the left foot was passing the right foot. In other words uniformity in training of the Southern Command by all men who had been sent from their Units, two from each Battalion.
Winchester at night was a wonderful sight if you could look at it high up. If you could imagine a giant saucer with the City and Cathedral in the middle lower down. All the different Units all on the sides of this giant saucer all lit up and then listen to the different bugles playing the Last Post. Each Bugler trying his best to beat the other Units. Then lights out. Slowly the camps are in darkness. Young Ted said to me as I saw this happening, ‘George I feel like I could write a poem’. Yes it did something to you.

Now on the outskirts of Winchester was where the Night Operations were done. This was a line of trenches an exact copy of the line held in France by our lst Battalion.

It was about now I thought I should get married so I had to ask the Colonel for permission and he would ask me if I had £5 in the bank. This was the usual procedure. And so the girl I had met at “Woodford Meet” was going to make all the arrangements i.e. for the Wedding and I was to find a place in Bournemouth for a honeymoon. Well everything went off fine. We could not stop long for the Nosh-up. We had to leave all that lovely grub behind. Now I said to my Brand New Wife I hope you don’t mind, I don’t know where we shall sleep tonight. I had not done my homework. If she was alarmed she did not show it. We reached Bournemouth and right away I found a taxi and he took us to a lovely place and so one day was gone of my four days leave.
Gladys was to spend some weekends with me and some of the Billets I found for her were out of this world. We did not have long together before I got posted to a draft. It so happened that I was to go to Chelsea Barracks for a 14 day training course. I could not let Ted go again overseas he had been wounded once. Also Glover was on this draft, they had joined up with me. So I found myself in Southampton on a Paddle Steamer absolutely packed with troops. I said to myself I know this boat, it is ‘Le Margarete’ disguised. A sister ship to the Royal Sovereign, that sailed from London Bridge to Ramsgate and was used for holidays.

We are now at “Le Havre” and I am in charge of 112 Irish Troops and one prisoner by the name of Thorn in handcuffs. Now when the Draft left Winchester snow covered everywhere to the depth of 12 inches. France was the same only deeper. I now know we are off to Salonica we think. The train was about the oldest I had ever seen. It took us 4 days across France to Marseille. We were put into sidings to let fast trains pass and only stopped once at “Lyon” which was a busy station. We were told to be back to our train in 20 minutes. There was a wild rush for the lav and not knowing the language we were bowling down the wrong one. A Lady Porter ran after the leading man grabbed him by the hand and led us to the correct place. The Station Buffet was crowded and with my  French which I had started and then packed up at Night School, I started to shout 2 eggs, bread and butter in my best French. I was right in front of the bar which was crowded with out troops. I said to myself when the train was hooting and I was at last to be served, these foreigners don’t know their own language, I was presented with a long thin loaf and a lump of cheese with holes in it. I was about the last to be served.
The snow still covered everywhere and in some places the train would stop and there would be  a rush to the Driver to get some boiling water from his engine to make tea. I said this train was a museum piece, wooden seats and when you have to sit on them for four days you can guess. Three days on and when we stepped down to relieve ourselves the snow was up to our middles we now are nearly across France with snow everywhere. We slept that night and in the morning it was Summer, the snow had been left behind and everywhere was green.
Marseille

Now this prisoner “Thorn” I had a chat with him, I would unlock him but he was to keep with me. I told him if he did not play the game I would put the bracelets on  again. He was doing No.1 Field Punishment. On the first night he had flown, I could hear some heated argument going on down along the train. It was in the night so I went along the corridor to where the noise was. It was him gambling. So I chained him up and he says, how can I play like this? 
Now when I left Winchester I had a debt which had been following me since the Horley days. It came about while I was doing sentry duty outside “Headquarters” which was a country house where the Officers were quartered. The Officers Mess was right in front where I was a sentry. They had lots to drink and it was about 2 a.m. They had played billiards It was a lovely table they were slurping their drinks and tossing for ten shillings at a time. Then one of them draws a sword and rips the cloth one end to the other. A nice old penny that will cost I said to myself. After we had left Horley I believe it was at Bishops Stortford the Battalion  had to pay for the damage and from this pay day they were stopping 1/- (one shilling) each a week. We saluted for 2/6d, instead of 3/6d which was our allowance to Mothers and Wives. I refused to pay they said it came under “Barrack Damages”. I said the one that ripped the Billiard Table should pay and also for the ornaments he had knocked off the Mantlepiece. It was Officers damages not Barrack Damages. I was the only one who knew about this, I tried to get the men to refuse. I was not paying anyway and I thought I had got away with it. I always got my full money they thought I might let the papers know. So they took the lot in dispute out of my last wage packet as I left for Overseas. I felt bitter. I only had a few shillings that I had spent on the train and was broke in Marseille.

 Two of my Irishmen wanted to go to church, being Catholics. I had taken them before the C.O. He could not refuse their request so they were allowed out for 2 or 3 hours. Nobody else got out of camp because we would set sail when they thought it was safe. They returned, and I knew where they had been.
We leave Marseille. It was an Atlantic Transport Ship that glided out of Marseille Harbour it just did not let us know it was moving, we soon found out, the ship did a dip, then everyone was holding onto anything to stop themselves hitting the deck. Below deck we were all sitting down to dinner, a joint of cooked beef took a slide down the deck and off the tray. It looked good and we tucked in only to see ourselves one by one looking a bit green. I had always boasted about my behavior on the sea I soon joined the others wishing I could stand on a piece of land.  Anywhere would do. 
On this ship there were a lot of horses, this being a cattle boat. As the ship dipped so down went the horses up they would get only to go over again. One or two were pushed ‘overboard’ because of injury. I was appointed Orderly Sergeant of the ship which means I am in on all that goes on and get orders of the day. I am the Senior Sergeant both by rank and length of service. As soon as the ship left the quayside I find in a small cabin allotted to me a bottle of wine and an indecent book in French. I sling the book overboard. I said to the prisoner Thorn, If he behaved I would look the other way. After that he had told me he had to gamble. His wife and children had no money because he was doing N.1 Field Punishment. I felt sore at the way I had been treated, I was broke I did not intend to take any money so each night I aways slept on the top deck and about midnight I would find the best supper right near my head. I would be tapped on the shoulder and when it was eaten the plate would be taken away I lived on the fat of the land. The two Irishmen were missing when we had medical inspection and the ship was searched. Eventually they were found on Coals in the hold of the ship, they were deceased. Caught by the Red Light District of Marseille.

Salonika looked beautiful as we approached on board, but what a difference when we landed. The smells! One main street fairly up to date but behind a great contrast. We proceeded to a Camp called Sommerhill Base. It was composed of Bell Tents. We did not receive many rations, very hard up. I got so hungry I began to like cooked onions. It just shows you and I have liked them ever since.
I had to look after my Irishmen and also Thorne the prisoner. A girl came in our tent before we were up wanting to know if we would buy her baby which she had with her. We could hear planes it did not bother us. We saw them encircle the camp of course it was bound to be one of ours! All at once bombs dropped right in this crowded Base-camp. We had no cover not a gun to fire at it, the damage to life was terrible we did not have time to do a thing, there were bits of humans and blood everywhere, our rifles which were piled up were covered in blood. Now I being a Sergeant, the Army Order was that on arriving on a Base-camp on Overseas, all N.C.O’s would be reduced to the Ranks, so I was expecting to get a call from the Base Orderly Room. I did get a call from them to post a guard on the only building which they had turned into a Mortuary where the dead were placed. That night the Sentries got the wind up stating. They could hear the casualties moaning. The General in charge was to inspect. The Base at a certain place was about 2 miles away. On arriving at the Camp they formed all the odd units into an Entrancing Battalion. We were all the odd bits and pieces of different Battalions. None of the Officers or N.C.O’S were able to get the various men in close columns of Companies. Their training did not take in Battalion Drill. At the General Inspection, the only long serviceman was the General himself. I had done Battalion Drill and knew that Officers always had the wind-up when a General was about, in the 1914 days it was the same. If we liked the Platoon Officer we did our stuff as required. 
On the move from the Base en Route to Inspection the Officers dropped out one at a time with diarrhea. This did happen and when we at last reached the Parade Ground I found I was in charge of A Company. I had to do the rounds with the General when inspection was on. After the Inspection as we proceeded along the road to Base Camp we seemed to have only one Officer left and he was at the head of the Battalion. He had been wondering how was going to form them up on “Base Parade Ground” and so he vanished and left me with 4 Companies. I had had this before at Tidworth Barracks. It was not fair to Officers some of them were green, they had been pushed with their training towards trench warfare and did not understand what to do.
The Orderly Room was my next call on the following day. I was told I was reduced to the Ranks. I could have my stripes and be “Base QuarterMaster”. They said they had my Musketry Report. I could remain at Base with my old Rank. I had left my two chums and I could not drop out after getting so far. Well the Entrencing Battalion moved up the line where I began to wish I had stopped at Base Camp. We did not seem to have any planes at all, the enemy planes came right down low and caught the ammunition dump. This was the Ammunition for the New Offensive so day and night we could not move owing to the deafening explosions of shells and small ammunition. Three days after the noise began to get quieter but it still went off in fits and starts. We did not seem to have a plane at all. I expect the planes we would use in France would be nearer to where they were made. Range came into it. Well if we did not have planes we also did not have a lot to eat. An inch cube of cheese and hard biscuits and six men to a tin of Bully Beef that was our days rations. I don’t know if that food went up with the Ammo. It seemed a long time since I had a dinner, You could put up with a lot if you had a smoke. Sometime later we were detailed to bury the horses and Mules that had been killed near the Ammunition Dump. It was still active not at all nice to be anywhere near it. Well a miracle, cigarettes had come up the line. Sent by the children of Water Lane School of Stratford. What a treat and what memories the wife and I had when we were single and where we used to go to that school for a dance mostly on a Saturday Night. Well the Cigarettes were allotted out. I always smoked a pipe and like the Onions I was pleased especially when we gingerly approached the Dump where the smell was awful with the Sun very hot in the day and the heat from the Dump had made the horses bellies all swollen. We worked like hell with our spades, taking it in turns I had two cigs in my mouth to counteract the smell and what with the Ammo still active I guess we beat the record for digging. When we got back to the Unit we thought perhaps some food had been in with the Cigs. No only tins of Pork and Beans, one tin between 6 men. I had never been used to tinned food but thought like the onions would get to like it. When the tin was opened in full view of us 6, I said blimey that’s all the Pork there is”? It was no bigger than a postage stamp, they did not seem to expect anymore, I laughed. They looked as they counted the Beans into my Mess Tin.
We are behind the Lines and from the cover of the hillside where our Company was in support, they proposed to run a light railway, the trucks and Lines were all stacked up ready for us men to run the Line right across no-mans land to bring up supplies. So we started to run the lines and the trucks following on the lines as we progressed. It was so far not too bad anyway. As we got  further along the enemy started to shell us we had no cover, the ground was rock, so every time we heard a whine of a shell we would get down under the trucks. It was not at all healthy, anyway the rails went all shapes. We should have left gaps in between the joints.  Well we could just go back and do the job again. This was the time for the General to have a look at these amateur Soldiers. We were formed up and the General picked out 25 of the tallest and longest service men for Head Quarters Guard. We were dispatched in a closed Army Truck in full view of the enemy behind our lines, going hell for leather across this rocky ground, they shelled us but they need not have worried we were nearly dead anyway. It was worse than sea sickness. We really felt ill and bruised all over. The driver said I don’t want to do that again in daylight. And so we relieved a Scots Guard at Headquarters. Now what a difference I was to be the Cook. I went to the Quartermasters Stores to draw the rations for 25 men.  He said get one of those trucks. I thought he was having me on, but I got the truck. I drew Porridge, Bacon, Tea, Sugar, Bread. In fact I was a little overcome and so was the rest of the guard. I started to cook right away. I soon had a meal made and at first they bloated themselves out. But they soon forgot how hungry they had been. It was not long before we had eggs for breakfast. I found a shed hidden on the edge of a ‘Cornfield’ I saw a parting in the corn. I thought it might be a wild dog coming through the corn but they were never alone. They went in packs. So I got my rifle handy and it turned out to be man crawling on his hands and knees with some eggs in a handkerchief. I ran my hands over him to see if he had a knife on him. Talking with his hands he said he wanted to make a swap. I had stock of Bully Beef the boys did not want because they were on good rations. So for l tin I got a dozen eggs and we had eggs, bacon and porridge. This bloke would arrive each day and brought more than twelve. I pointed out it was not enough but I only parted with one tin. The Bulgars were great big men they would make raids each night. 

The river Vardar was close handy so I was going to see if I could get myself clean of Lice. We were all the same, Lousy. So I washed my things and then dived in myself and placed all my clothes on a big stone at the bottom of the river saying to myself drown you buggers., on my clothes. Well they were still alive after two days on the bottom of the river.
Well we were off again. Our well off days were coming to an end it seemed. Too good to last. I had a talk to the boys when I began to hear we might be movingl I said I have saved 2 tins of Bully Beef each out of the rations while I was in the Cook’s job. So I dished out the Bully Beef, Tea and sugar for them to pack in their haversacks, then off we marched again. Marching was one thing we were used to. The Scots used to call us the Ham & Eggs Mob because we were from London, as a well-off place. Mind you most of our boys were as bad off as them. We began to call ourselves ‘Cooks Tours’. So the march to the ship at Salonika began. We were the “Advance Guard” and we were to learn they had forgotten completely about rations for the 25 of us. I said I hope you saved your Bully Beef. What a hope, they had thrown it away to lighten their load. I had the same as them to carry 90lbs in my pack. Anyway I got a fire going on the Quayside and made tea and nibbled my hard biscuit every man for himself I says. I could not enjoy my tea with them looking on. We were 3 days on guard at the Quay with no rations. I now had my 2nd Air Raid. Being off guard, I had got myself along with two others along a fairly long stone pier that butted out a good way into the Harbour. The destroyer let off a gun fire at the first plane. But before this, all the population of Salonika started to let off a moan, the whole lot of them. I began to wish I was not so far out in the Harbour. We had no shelter and laid under some trucks. They missed us and dropped all the bombs in the drink. 
We were very hungry, it was midnight when we went aboard and pulled up the gangway to the ship.  We had watched all the different troops board. Perhaps we would get something to eat now? No go, all asleep, not a crumb. When morning came we just got a dollop of Porridge and that was our lot. This was a P & O boat well know for its mean rations.

Hello Egypt here we come the sun is out, it always is and from the ship you can hardly define the coast line. I suppose it is low down and desert sand instead of the Cliffs of Dover.

We now join our 2nd Battalion the 23rd Regiment. We had been attached to that Entranching Battalion ever since landing in Salonika. Now we belonged to someone. That was the reason we had no rations since we left Head Quarters to march to the Quay. A mix up. One of many.

Palestine General Allenby and Lawrence

We had not heard of them before but we found out no progress had been made only a lot of casualties. It was said that the life in Cairo was like home, especially at the Shepherds Hotel where the General had made all his plans. Gaza it seemed was the trouble. It was on a hill or high ground. We called it Umbrella Hill. On one flank the sea and on the other the desert. The General had no answer to this and casualties mounted up. Even Tanks had been used to see if they could shift the Turks and Austrian Naval Guns but the tanks went out of action as they sunk deeper into the desert sand. The Essex Regiment lost  many men attacking this place for nearly two years. The position was deadlocked. If I have made a mistake in blaming this General I am sorry, but this was what was being said . He may have had orders to keep at Shepherds.
I say goodbye to a brave man Captain Entwistles D.S.O M.G.  

The Officer with an “Eye Glass” or “Monocle” did not look the type to frighten the Turks and when our company saw our new C.O. our lads began to titter. One or two of our lads had served with him in France. At once they said, stop that laugh, we know him. He is tops and so he proved. He saved many lives, very often, on his own he would crawl out in front and reconnoiter the position, we could hardly believe this but he proved it time after time. On a horse he would head his company. We did not mind him having a ride as we marched mile after mile day and night. We would sleep as we marched and drop down where we were. Ten minutes every hour completely exhausted. In this war Officers of Infantry had a ride while men marched behind. Sometimes it happened a horse would stop and the men marching behind would bump into its backside. Why don’t you get down and give the horse a rest?
We had marched back and forth, mostly at night behind the trenches from Gaza to a flank on the desert and back to the coast on the other flank.
We had been warned when we were already fed up marching for weeks on end across the desert sand with boots sinking into the sand. You have to get used to marching across sand. To and fro it may have been “Beersheba” and back to Gaza on sand. On the desert you have nothing to recognize where you are.

A new General arrived to take over the 60th Division. His lecture to us was that when making butter you pounded the milk until you had got lovely butter and that chaps is what you are going to do. You are going to bash this desert sand until you are fit and well. We gave him a soldiers farewell as we stood to attention, not a mouth moved. All together “You old Sod”. He must have heard but took no notice. So on we went too and fro. We only halted at night. As it got light we saw we were in front of Gaza in the trenches that had been in the past two years mostly held by the Essex Regiment. It was dawn it gets light very quickly out there and there we saw Lawrence with 3 or 4 Arab Horsemen galloping towards our lines. Soon after we saw from our trenches a “Cavalry Charge” by the Worcester Yeomanry attacking across our front. In full gallop they charged at their objective, the Naval Austrian Guns opened fire carving great holes in the Ranks of Yeomanry they never flinched only a few reached their objective, the gunners dead by their guns. These were our boys from the country, witnessed by the Cockneys. This was the beginning of the Allenby Advance. He was a Cavalry General who knew his stuff and from now on we were going to pound the desert advancing bit by bit, always on the move. The Turk was a good soldier used to desert warfare. He fell back. Sometimes we would only know he had been there where he had made a fire. He would clear everything up. While this was happening we the P.B.I. were still marching always by night. To me this war began to have a pattern. We would always have a protection party for the Battalion marching extended on either side, it was always a job  for the old soldier. My pal Ted Stone and Spencer Murphy and two or three others would always get this job. I said I could now see a pattern. It was now with 2 ½ years since I started. From 1914 Territorials to Tidworth Barracks Infantry training where I had learned to take cover and while on patrol to see and not be seen to hear and not be heard. Well it was all quiet on this night, 1st October and we were strung out as usual. My patrol sat down. The Battalion had come to rest and it was a dark night. Then, all of a sudden, all hell was let loose .My patrol just four of us were right on the enemy’s door step. We were so near. The Battalion, we found out, had reached their positions. This was Beersheba and the patrol on the other flank was doing the same job as us. Our first casualty had a bayonet and it seemed the scream he gave started the fireworks. It seemed so quiet just before I had removed my boots because my feet seemed to burst through the lace holes. We were under their searchlights and could be seen like in broad daylight and a proper target for their machine guns. Talking about it later we might have walked right into them it was so quiet. Now, what a noise. I did not stop I picked up my boots all lit up by the searchlights. I did have the wind-up. This was some battle. It went on for 3 days shelling at close range. We captured about 80,000 Turks. In the Turkish Officers Mess the table was laid with bowls of fruit. But this was no walkover. Every bowl was mined. This was a hand to hand battle. The Turk had been beaten by tactics for about 2 months. The Australian Light Horse had roamed the desert up close to Beersheba then withdrawing before dawn. The Turk got used to them going and coming, not a shot fired and us poor P.B.I. going back and forth and then one long night we attack. The P.B.I. in a frontal attack and Australian Light Horse on the flank. I, with Ted Stone and Spud Murphy, managed to keep going. Many places they thought were going to be troublesome proved not so bad. The Turk had retreated with us following. Meanwhile on the coast, after Gaza fell, the railway was mined to blow up the retreating Turk General and his staff. It did not work out that good. The train had passed over half the tracks before the bomb went off. We were driving the Turk right back out of his positions. Then Jerusalem was captured we had 10 days rest the first one I could remember. Then off we went to leave the Jewish Battalion in reserve in Jerusalem. While we had been in the desert we had not even had a haircut. We had found a Café where they would give us Mutton and Two Veg for 7/6d. We had not tasted a dinner for months so we thought first to have a wash and haircut. We walked down the stairs to the Barbers a long mirror was in front of us. We stopped and let off a big laugh. We were just like Cavemen.  He said the wandering Jews are back again. Well I could not finish the dinner my stomach was too small to hold it and I was very sorry I had my hair cut because the “Rainy Season” was about to begin and instead of the rain going nicely onto my cape it went straight down the back of my neck. In three weeks they have as much rainfall as we have for one year in England. It got colder and it continued to rain and to make it just dandy we were in desert clothes. We had pushed the Turk out of his nice warm billets in Jerusalem and it appeared he did not intend us to keep him out. So without telling us a thing about what was the reason, we had left the Jewish Battalion in their Jerusalem.  We found we were up against a counter attack. Outside on the hills outside Jerusalem the Turk is preparing. We shoved him off a place called Nebi Samuel and proceeded to push him still further back. We had no cover. Wet through, we slept  where we could, on the wet ground, huddled together for warmth. This was about two days before Christmas. We reached a place where the Turk had made trenches. He evidently thought them too wet so our troops would rest the Battalion here and hold it. I am on my own now Ted had been wounded and sent down the line. Murphy had gone, also just wounded. So I have the same dirty job. Hughes take six men and go off in a low position in front of our lines on the high ground. I get orders this time “if you hear them coming start to fire”. This meant if we started to fire we would be between two firing positions. It is Christmas Eve (1917) so we take up positions. It was still raining and during the sortie and I could hear the enemy making ready to advance. The men I had with me were very young and they began to get worked up. I had a job with them and out of the corner of my eye I saw one of them crawling away towards our line. I thought well he is taking a chance but we may not have a chance either. It is getting near to daybreak. I must, if I am lucky, gradually retreat back to our lines. I could see as I thought a lot of haloes. It was Christmas morning and the bells from Jerusalem were ringing. The haloes were around the tips of the bayonets of the men standing too. I had judged it correctly. We had hardly got to the foot of this mount when the order came to return at once. When we reached them, they had been attacked and driven off the Turk. What a sight. They had fought them hand to hand so you see how near we were out in front of this place.

What I have just written is correct every word is true. I never expected to come out of this alive and it was Christmas morning and the Bells were ringing and I cannot explain but the haloes, they were there. Our boys had stood all night in the flooded trenches. We are relieved by the 22nd London Battalion Regiment all Bermondsey boys. When we had landed from Salonika, the Australians had passed remarks like “Look what’s coming to help us”. They did not know how tough these boys were. So on our way to rest they had brought up a parcel for me from home a cake and other things, a Godsend on Christmas day.
I must say a word of myself. I had been in action it seemed years, but it was open war movement all the time never stopping, keeping the Turk on the run since the attack, it began October 1st, it was now Christmas Day. I stated earlier that I was on my own.  That is how I felt, my chums the ones that you could trust were nearly all gone either wounded or killed. Some of the boys I was taking out on patrol now were raw and worse, just 18 looking very young.

I had joined the 2nd Battalion straight from Winchester and a lot of the men in this Battalion knew me and were trained at Winchester and so it came about that they did not mix too well.  So when I joined this Battalion I was not made very welcome. The Officers did not like the look of me I suppose, they were green and knew it. The men were different I had been their Sergeant. I was now a Private  and was trusted.

I got the dirty jobs always when the Battalion came to halt for the night. It was I , Ted Stone and Spud Murphy and a few others who had to go out on patrol. We were just as tired as the main body. Ted would say why did I ever know you, I can’t get away from you, its always the same Hughes, Stone, Spud and Ted and so on. Well now I am still here my comrades are getting fewer and fewer. Men coming back to join us would say your still here! We were always pleased to see each other these were the lucky ones, only wounded. The 2nd Battalion N.C.O’s began to be friendly it is always the same when you have been through the mill together. We had lost a lot a lot of Officers and N.C.O’s. The Turk would pick them off first. In one of our scraps while the ding-dong was at its height I got promoted. Nearly all our N..C.O’s had caught it, so while the noise was on, the Officer In Charge shouts you are a Lance Corporal Hughes. Any pay in it? No answer only ITS AN ORDER. This was not wanted by me, I never wore this stripe only when it was wise! I with others did a Guard Duty on the Mount of St. Olives pinching a bit of the Olive Trees to light a fire for a brew up, this was what we were guarding the Olive Trees. We moved along the road to the Hills of Judea, from here we can see across the plains of Jordan. It looks quite near, they say it is 21 miles across to the Moab Mountains and in the middle of the plain runs the River Jordan and to the right the Dead Sea. We turned a sharp left turn when we had reached the foot of the Judea Hills. We are now on the Plain itself. Just before we reached the Plain a Draft came up the Line all young ones. One of them had brought his Comics with him. They were all a bit excited and we told them what we thought about Volunteering not to be in a hurry but wait until they had a look around. It was soon after this that “General O Shea” came. He generally carried Woodbines and was not afraid to go up the Line and chat first holding out cigarettes which he did on this occasion. He says, chummie like,I got a small job I only want one Volunteer to go with the Officer who has volunteered, and before  we had time to take a fresh breath who should speak up, but the one who had the comics. The Draft had been on a joy ride along the Coast, the blue sea on their left from the Base, through Jerusalem on to the Mount of St. Olives, this Draft had been taken for a ride. We learned afterwards a bridge had to be blown up across the River Jordan. From where we looked the atmosphere was very clear and these two had a long way to go without being spotted. It had been timed to blow up at midnight and it went up on time. We could see it from where we were. We never saw the Boy or the Officer again.
To come back to where we were marching along the Plain keeping well into the Hills of Judea we can hear gunfire again, we take up positions in the trenches outside Nablous. This place had been a nuisance as long as Gaza. We did not stop long here having lost a few men. They certainly had these trenches trapped. I was lucky again I was given a long fence to defend with 6 others, a rum ration arrived and not one of these boys wanted it. So silly like, I said you can’t waste it. I did not remember anymore, only a noise going on and the place rocking. I came too some hours later to find all these chaps were casualties. The Turk had heard the commotion when we took over this front line of trenches. I was in a deep dugout most of the other dugouts in this front line were blown in. We are now drawn out and on the move again to retrace our steps to the opening road to Jerusalem. We leave the road to Jerusalem and head to the River Jordan. I said it was stated to be 21 miles across to the foot of the Moabe Mountains where the atmosphere was very clear making it hard to believe so now we can be seen clearly as we march. Are there any good swimmers about? Anyone want a good swim? They got some budding channel swimmers. We are still marching they know by now we have pounded the desert well.  I am sorry to say it but the chaps all knew more about the Bible than me. I am told I am standing on the “Walls of Jericho” and looking down I could see it was true. Before we had reached Beersheba I had stood where Lot’s wife had turned to stone, “Tell el of Farah” “Tell el jimmy” these may have been our Army Names. 
Well now, to get back to marching to the River Jordan. Things began to hot up. The swimmers had swum under fire to throw a bridge across, it was done very quickly not without cost and over we went. I threw my pitch helmet in the Jordan another 6 shillings gone. Now we were being held up by a Post guarding the Pass to the Mohab  Mountains. We always had this happening. TheTurk would fight to the last while it was light then hop it in the dark. A good soldier. This time it was a mixture of Germans and Turks. We eventually get to the pass and on along this narrow road just wide enough for a cart to use, the higher we go the colder it got and we are in shorts and desert outfits and every time a cloud came it would wet us through to the skin. Ted is back again and so is Spud and about a dozen 1st Battalion Men. They seemed to put life into us. You had to be artful to keep alive in this kind of war, taking advantage of every cover however small most times and none at all at other times. Taking a village and being fired at from roofs and windows. 
Well enough of this, back to the cold wet mountain. Clouds kept coming our way and right through us a ringing laughter of an animal of some kind. Ted said “It’s us he is laughing at”. It was uncanny going along this pass not a shot being fired, it didn’t make us feel safe and then a plane came across above us. I expect he has taken out photograph we are near a village named I think “E Salt”. 
After “E Salt” we don’t know anything, half of our boys are on one side and half the other side. My Frinton Pal Glover was playing cards as usual all under cover. They now reinforce us with 2 Companies of 21st Battalion and 2 Companies of 23rd Battalion in 4 lines A.B.C.D. “A” Company to go over first to be followed by B,C & D in that order, it still was so quiet.

The Order was given to advance then all Hell broke loose on us. When D Company came following on there was nothing. Just a few men left of them. We made for the cover of a small hill exhausted with what was left of us 21st and 23rd London Regiment. Doubt if there were 40 men left out of 1,000 men and 3 Officers.

Captain Entwistle got there he must have come on after. He was not one to be left behind. He was in a poor state of health and when it was dark I guess he had made his way to us.
Having got their breath the boys stood too and made their way to the top of this Hill, a valley each side and a flat top. The Turk thought he had polished off the lot of us. He started to advance through the valley at the right side of us. They retired after we had taken about 20 prisoners. They looked ashamed especially the German Officer. He knew all about us and where we came from. We were now being supported by the Machine Gun Corps. They were well back from our forward position and able to keep this valley under fire but a long way off and some of their bullets were falling short of our position. We were actually taking prisoners and after taking their arms off of them, sending them back the way we had come and when they got beyond the cover of our hill they got the fire of their own guns on them and they started to gather speed towards our Lines.

We could see how far we had come and to my idea the whole operation should have been at night over such a long distance. What did they think the thousand men would do? The place was a Town called “Amman” we were so close we could hear them bringing up new troops. The enemy had big guns pointing straight at us. Men were blown to pieces no wonder we could not see many standing as we went over. 
Now I am left with Ted, Spud had gone, Teddy was wounded but he would not leave me. He had his arm done up and there was one Officer left beside Captain Entwistle and on the second day he got hit. I took my hat off to him he was wounded on the ground still firing his revolver when he got another one. I hope he got back alright. I believe his name was Scrivens it s a long time ago to remember. We were surrounded and were very thirsty having no supplies of food or water and small ammunition we had to be careful. One thing we did have, a Jar of Rum. No one knows how it got there. We were running very short of ammunition we had forced them back at very close quarters 6 times, 4 times taking prisoners. Captain Entwistle said “send a man on the left hand side of the valley”. I said its murder I have just been up there crawled up on my belly all the way and looked over into this Donga. Piles of horses and men and machine guns playing right through it. Now came the last stand. We have been driven off the top and continued to hold a position lower down. Here they come again we still had some Mills Bombs left, they were soon done we actually took the top again, this was in the dark just before this we had held a get together. We would give in. So we broke the Rum Jar and buried all our papers etc. then someone said what us “Not Bloody Likely” so off we stood no ammunition left only our bayonets to meet them and one Mills Bomb and to our surprise they did not like the look of us. They were new troops in clean uniforms we were in rags. I miss Ted I can’t see him, I crawl out on the top to find him and as it got light he falls in on us he had caught it in the head. I broke down, Teddy with his arm done up “don’t let them see you”. In this Man to Man fight Captain Entwistle  would have been killed for sure. He said what does it matter? It matters to us you have got to get us out. You know the point we have to make for. So in the dark with everyone carrying a wounded man we walked. Captain Entwistle had said he had plotted where the shells were falling and we were to follow him. So off we went one at a time. I had a chap I knew him as Joe. I had him across my shoulder. Every time I stumbled a lot the ground was so uneven I kept saying I’m sorry Joe not much further. We made it. Three days without food or water.
There were no more than 24 left of us. Captain Entwistle M.C.,D.S.O. and one Lance Corporal unpaid, me. We did have a Company Sergeant Major with us but he went off he said to get some ammunition. He disappeared in the dark on the first night. We got time for a feed and tea and then the retreat back across to the Jordan.
The Retreat was wonderfully executed. First one Battalion would hold them off then they would be relieved, this was done in good order until we reached and crossed the Jordan where our Battalion Band played in a ragged lot of men and the tune they played was One More River to Jordan. Yes we had a band they were kept in lavender. In fact, there were more of them than us! I was cutting the boys hair with a pair of clippers I had got from a Turk. I was called away to see the Captain and he showed me a communication he had just received. I have a matter that concerns you. You are to return to United Kingdom for a commission. You have a lousy record according to this. I said they wrote that a long time ago. The people who wrote that are gone the Captain said. I’ve only known you since December last and I can only make things right. Do you want to go? Yes I said I have lost all my pals. He said we will be making the Battalion up again you could be a Senior N.C.O. I said no thanks and this is the way I parted from a very brave man. I was off to the U.K!
This action I have just described is where he got his D.S.O. Captain Entwistle M.C.D.S.O.2nd Battalion 23d London Regiment. His M.C. was awarded May 1915 at Givenchy in France with the lst Battalion.
In all this time I was in the advance. From Gaza to Beersheba Oct 1st 1917 and on to Amman. It was a raid across the Jordan and up between the Moab Mountains to Amman. Why ? You do as you are told. The only thing we knew for sure was we would be turning the milk into butter. We would be told absolutely nothing of what was expected of us. So why this raid? I said previously about the one Officer and one Man sent to blow up a bridge, did it fail? We thought it was accomplished we saw from a long way off at midnight the flash, bang on time. Why were we taken along the Judean Hills to take up position in front of Nablas? Only to be taken off back from wence we came then across the Jordan to attack Amman. Nablas was taken. Was this the price we paid? 1000 men in 4 waves sent in daylight. Every other raid had been in darkness just before dawn. We had a fair amount of casualties ever since taking Beersheba. Ted had been wounded three times once in France and twice here. The only rest I got was after we had taken Jerusalem, 10 days. Then the Jewish Battalion took over, we never saw them again. I was in the Line all the time. 

Having got my orders to proceed to the U.K. I said goodbye to the boys with mixed feelings. So down the Line to Base Camp where they burnt all my clothes the lice going off like bullets from a machine gun and then to a sheep dip to kill off anything on your body. This dip burnt your behind and got in your eyes. They saw you went right under. The Egyptian Railway Terminus had up-to-date carriages. The Officials wanted our ticket to say we had been cleaned. Tommy and I had no ticket, we had to go back to Base Camp thinking we would get the required ticket. We had to go through the dip again to get our tickets. 
We have, now reached Alexandria. One main street up-to-date but the back street, all hovels. Keeping true to form I am broke again only on rations at Base Camp. No pay for either Tommy or I and we waited 8 weeks for a ship. I saw troops going up the Line. While standing at the Railway I saw an old pal Corporal Victor a smart lad, we had been through a lot together. He said “how are you off for cash”? He wanted to give me all he had got, he pleaded take it all. I might not want it. I knew he meant it. He gambled and was a wide boy, but one of the best beside you in a scrap. I took a few piastres telling him I would soon be getting a pay day.
At last we got orders to pack and be ready to move off. The ship was one of about 4 or 5 in Alexandria Harbour. A Battalion of Scots came down the Line to reinforce the French Front. They arrived at the docks and were on the ship all in the dark. As soon as it was light and they saw the Town from the ship they started to yell. You could understand them, they had been perhaps in the Desert months and were wild at not being given a day or two in Town.(
The ship was in mid harbour and over the sides they came swimming ashore only to be met at the steps of the quay by the “Military Police “ pointing revolvers at them at the top of the steps.

The “Leason Castle” 30,000 tons

This is our boat, brand new. She had been ordered by either the Turks or Greeks because all over the ship were letters like ‘Music.  On the Lavs’ and every door. So they had captured it as soon as she came off the Stocks.

While in harbour an Officer offered 10 shillings for anyone to dive off the forecastle. OK I said and another said he would also dive and that we could share the money between the two of us. So two of us dived this is in the calm of the harbour. It was higher than either of us thought. Now came the tricky part how to get back. The Ship looks different down below so they lowered a rope ladder to us and if you have never climbed a rope ladder you cannot understand. It took us some time, little did I think that in a few hours time this Forecastle would be twice as high and I should be jumping off again.

The Torpedoing of the “Leason Castle”

We left Alexandria and we had a nervy crew. I know the Merchant Navy would not be proud of them. Our boys told them to cheer up. Another one said “it’s a new ship it cant have a hole in all ready”. How right he was.

This was a Convoy of very fast ships about 4 besides us and all loaded with troops. The sea was very calm and we had one man overboard as soon as we left Alexandria. They didn’t stop and we saw him drift away and with the swift speed of our ship he was just a speck in the distance. It became dark and about midnight we were hit amid ships. We heard it grind to a halt as it screwed into the ship. We wondered at the speed of men of the Merchant Navy lowering the lifeboats. But they were filled up with Merchant Navy men. One life boat was being lowered and when about half way down the Boilers bust and they must have been scalded. Now I and my draft were in our positions on the forecastle and under our feet the deck is trembling as the sea is filling the ship. From where I am standing the ship is going down backwards. I believe they call it the blunt end. This trembling of the deck was going on at a steady pace. The Ship’s Captain and also one Army Officer are on the bridge and the sea was awash of the Bridge. We could wait no longer and over the side went the few of us that were left. The ships boy jumped with his dog. An old fellow who never ought to have been in the Army was being sent home because he had lost his sight. We got him over the ships rail and shoved him over the side. Then we went over ourselves it was pitch dark in the water. A Japanese Destroyer had put a smoke screen around us as soon as we were hit. This smoke hung around and that was the last we saw of the two on the Bridge. Two shots went off, The Captain would not leave his ship and the Army Officer had all his men pinned below the decks. 
As for the crew, I think the Merchant Navy would not own them. Their Captain kept shouting through his megaphone “Bring those boats back”.

I was rescued by a Sloop a small Destroyer, lighter in armour than its big brothers, a lovely ship. What a Captain, what a risk. He ran his ship right up and picked us up. There was a shout  “there she goes!” and like a “Human Moan” our ship went down. We were very close to her as she went. “Full Steam ahead”. Our boat seemed to stand still. I don’t know much about these things but I began to think we would not make it, because after she went down all things floatable were popping up out of the sea. I think we lost a lot of men through this. H.M.S. Lily that was her name and what a Captain, he had picked up so many we had to sit and not move. A Japanese Destroyer had picked up a lot and shouted to those left in the water another ship will be alongside. Well off goes H.M.S.Lily only a small ship loaded up and as the dawn comes up we can see Egypt ahead and also a torpedo coming straight for us. The sea had calmed down and was so smooth. A bunch of us were at the sharp end and got a fine view of this thing coming for us. Someone says, they keep the magazine under where we are sitting. Meanwhile our Captain ever so slowly turns his ship very gradually so that the torpedo just misses us.  We make Alexandria Harbour.
The Roll Call

We stand when we land. They would call a name and there was no answer.  Sometimes it was a long time before someone answered. I guess we were in all 300 men.

Not one word in all these years have I heard a word about this.

I have only my shirt an Egyptian one, yards of it and my watch. Most of us are like this so they bundle us off to a camp the other side of Alexandria. ((
It was a Terminus for the Tram Cars. After being there I suppose a week without clothes we were told a supply would be coming along. We looked a funny lot, most of us were nearly in the nude. It was not hardship, it was hot weather cooled by the sea. “Fall in for clothes” was just a joke, perhaps the issue would be soap and towels. The men were getting a bit restless. No issue of clothes, no money, everyone was broke and what was worse we could not leave camp (so they thought). A Tram was ready to start for the centre of Alexandria, we jumped the tram and made the Driver proceed. It was the biggest load he had ever had, every place where he had to pick up passengers they were left standing and staring so off we went into town. Me in my shirt but we were all dressed the same. Outside the tram stop was a “Theatre”. My chum and I dived inside, we found a table in a dark corner. There were several tables where waiters would bring refreshment, and there we were entertained by naughty girls  in a song and dance act and one very fat woman who sang Sarahfina, That is 
what the words sounded like to me. The “Army Police” had a busy evening rounding up the nearly nude soldiers in a crowded Alexandria. The show having come to an end we gave ourselves up. We knew we would soon have been caught roaming about with no money. After this they hurried to get us some clothes.
“Port Said”

I have swum across the Canal at Ishmailiya

The mouth of the Suez Canal

This time we ship from here and run into a storm at sea. I thought the Mediterranean was always docile. For two days we had a rough time. Now we are at Marseilles again. We again go by railway across France. We began to hear rumours that the Germans had broken through and were advancing and that the Allies had given way. It seemed to be correct because we could hear the Big Guns plainly and it seemed very near to us. It brought the Train to a halt and there were shouts ‘Are there any Infantry here’? My chum and I did not belong to any Battalion. We were odd ones going back to the U.K. for a Commission. In any case I said, this is where I have done all I am going to do. So I stepped out on the offside of the Train which moved off slowly. I reached Le Havre and so to Blighty. I reach London Waterloo broke. I had to stop a chap and borrow 2/6d to get home to Stratford. I asked this chap his address so that I could send the 2/6d back. He was outside the “Army & Navy Hostel”. The wonder was I had come home all this way and I had never been challenged. I thought I should have been stopped as I passed the Barrier at Waterloo Station and again at Liverpool Street. I had no equipment and the Military Police were about, I was improperly dressed and should have been stopped. 

Now they sent me to the Officers Training Course on Salisbury Plain. I got a few days leave before going to Salisbury Plain. The training was very strict, my hut was within 100 yards from ‘Stonehenge ‘. We were told there was to be no leave on any account. We were told that there would be an Education Exam to pass and failures would be returned to their Unit. After I had been there about a month, Gladys my wife was leaving Stratford to live in Streatham. So I tried to get leave to help my wife move house. My Company Officer said you know there is no leave  for anyone. I said I wanted to see the Colonel, he could not refuse me permission to approach the Colonel. After arguing “how was my wife to manage all on her own” it ended with me getting 4 days leave. When I returned, getting back to Camp at midnight, I crept into my hut only to be told you are to sit your exam on your own. It is on the Order Board. Sure enough I went outside, struck a match so I could see and there it was. They all seemed so happy they had had their exam yesterday. So at 9 o clock the next day I sat all on my own for the Exam and I got a pass at 95%. I had been studying ever since I left my Battalion. My chum who was a Teacher had only just passed his exams at Teachers Training College prior to joining up. He said I had worked hard and should pass. Now some years ago my Evening School Teacher said ‘Buy this penny book of trick-words by the “Daily Mail” as used by them and if you ever have an Exam you will find these words helpful. How true this turned out to be. Nearly all of them were in the dictation exam. Well although this wants some believing, I was the only one to pass. There had been a lot of cheating and all the others had to sit the exam again. The Orders Board showed one pass and all the others to sit again. On the day of the Exam I was the only one left with nothing to do. Not for long though, I was posted to the Cook House for the day. I was on washing up, I dared not get my uniform greasy and to make it worse I could not talk to the girls working there. It was more than we dared to. The girls knew this and I think they enjoyed trying to make me lose my temper.
Next I moved to North Wales Kemmul Park, we reached the camp in the dark not knowing where we had landed. In the morning I said to Tommy. There seems a lot of foreigners in the camp sweeping up. I don’t think its German they are speaking. So it was a man with a name of Hughes being told they are speaking Welsh. 
Every day wet or fine we played Sport. It did not go down too well if you tried to avoid games. I spend all my afternoons playing Football. I am in good company. Here are all the best of University soccer players.  I used to think that one hard match a week was pretty hard going but down here we had a match every afternoon. You were watched all the time. They would sort out who they thought would represent them against whoever challenged. This process went on every afternoon so no one got out of doing something hard. I did get a break from football until one afternoon I had a choice of hockey or running. I chose hockey so in goal I go no one worried if you have ever played before.  I had not, so I thought I was in for a rest. It started to rain and the side I was on were hot stuff so the ball did not come my way very often. The rain pelted down and I was frozen cold. I was wet through walking to and fro in Goal. The other Goalkeeper was very busy.
 In this camp were Australians and New Zealanders, all doing an Officers Course.  In my Hut I had New Zealanders. After a lot of sorting out that had gone on each afternoon they managed to pick two teams to play each other and the winner to play against another division. I was in one of these teams and scored the only goal at left half. I always managed to score from this position once or twice in a season. This game was to pick the team to represent the Officers Training Centre.  I did not get picked and this nearly caused trouble. The Aussies and New Zealanders said I should have been picked but I explained to them that I did not expect to be picked. I played different football to the others I did not play “After you Claude football” I played Sunday morning football, which meant I went for the ball and it was a bit rough not what the old school Ref and the selection committee could pass over. 
I got to London from Rhyl on a platform ticket 1 penny. I next got a posting to 21st Battalion at Winchester. It was just after the War ended. The C.O. said your first job is to look after the Demob. This was to demob according to the “Key Industry” and “length of service” etc., Well I said I am down as an Optician and I am the oldest soldier. So from my office of Demob I sent in my application along with the other men I had sorted out and to my surprise back come my papers made out by myself. I was free! 
So late at night I came out at Crystal Palace Station. Not a soul was there to meet me, no crowds, no nothing. Everything had stopped and so I arrived at Norfolk House Road. Gladys was at work and was not expecting me so it was for me all quiet on the Western Front and then I thought of my lost pals, only boys, what a waste. They shall not grow old.
Finale

Here is one important thing I have left out. It is when I had been in Alexandria

about a week. I had come down the Line from re-crossing the Jordan to wait for a ship to U.K. I went into a Picture House and all the films were in French. The News came on by “Pathe Gazette” it showed the British Troops in the Pass to the village of ESalt. There I saw myself and all my pals laughing as they go into the attack on Amman. All my own Platoon all dead, two days after. These pictures must have been taken very close or a telephoto lens had been used. Myself and the rest of them were very large. It was a shock to me (three times lifesize). Years later I was passing by Poplar Tunnel. I saw they were showing at a Cinema close by “With Allenby to Amman”. I put my bicycle up and went in. After a little wait there was the film Pathe Gazette and I saw myself and my chums  again in Pictures three times life size and very plain. 
The End
(I am writing this after Scotland had beaten England 3-2 at Wembley when thousands of wild Scots invaded the Wembley Turf. There were photos in the paper showing them celebrating. April 15th 1967.

((I am now  77 years of age on May 6th 1967. I am glad I have got some of this off my chest. Writing was never a pleasure but so far I have enjoyed this.
� 





.

